RECEIVED

Aug 22 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000511

Tracy Campbell and Daniel Campbell,Appellants,

v.

Brian Keith Newman and Kimberly Norman,Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

John S. Nichols, S.C. Bar # 4210
john@bluesteinattorneys.com
William B. Koontz, S.C. Bar # 106496
william@bluesteinattorneys.com
Bluestein Thompson Sullivan, LLC
1614 Taylor Street
PO Box 7965
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 779-7599

W.H. Nicholson, III, S.C. Bar # 6455
billy@nicholsonmeredith.com
Lena Y. Meredith, S.C. Bar # 9663

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Whether the Circuit Court erred in refusing to charge the jury with punitive damages when there was evidence of a causative violation of a statute which constitutes evidence of recklessness and willfulness.**
- 2. Whether the Circuit Court erred in refusing to allow cross-examination of Respondent Newman with regard to similar habitual conduct and similar past conduct.**
- 3. Whether the Circuit Court erred in refusing to grant a new trial *nisi additur* when there was evidence the damages awarded by the jury were grossly inadequate as to the claims of loss of consortium and medical expenses.**
- 4. Whether the Circuit Court erred in refusing to grant a new trial absolute when there was evidence the damages awarded by the jury were the result of some improper motive or were grossly inadequate.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action arises out of a motor vehicle wreck that occurred on June 14, 2018, when Respondent Brian Newman collided into the rear end of the Appellants' vehicle, resulting in injuries to Appellant Tracy Campbell (hereinafter, Appellant Tracy) and substantive damage to their vehicle. Brian Newman had been operating the vehicle of Respondent Kimberly Norman when he collided into the Campbells' vehicle. The wreck caused serious injury to Appellant Tracy and resulted in a loss of consortium claim made by her husband, Appellant Daniel Campbell (hereinafter, Appellant Daniel).

Appellants filed suit against Brian Newman and Kimberly Norman on November 13, 2019, alleging three causes of action: negligence and gross negligence against Brian Newman; negligent entrustment against Kimberly Norman; and loss of consortium. (Complaint, generally). Appellant Tracy's first cause of action against Brian Newman sounded in negligence and gross negligence proximately resulting in Appellant Tracy's damages and injuries. (Complaint, ¶¶ 6-9). The Appellants argued that there was evidence showing Brian Newman violated a statute that proximately caused the damages she suffered. (Complaint, ¶¶ 7-8). Appellant Tracy sought an award of damages and punitive damages under the theory that the causative violation of a statute was evidence of recklessness sufficient to justify punitive damages. (Complaint, ¶ 10). Appellant Tracy sought actual and punitive damages as well as damages for pain and suffering. (Complaint, ¶ 10). Appellant Daniel, as the spouse of Appellant Tracy, alleged loss of consortium as a result of Brian Newman's negligence and gross negligence. (Complaint, ¶ 16). Appellants did not proceed with the cause of action for negligent entrustment as the Respondent Kimberly Norman passed away prior to trial. (Tr. 15:6-12).

Progressive Direct Insurance Company filed a Notice of Appearance and Answer of Defendants on November 26, 2019. (Answer of Defendants, generally).

Pursuant to Rule 40(j), SCRCPP, the parties agreed to strike the 2019 action from the docket with allowance to restore the case to the active docket. (Consent Order Pursuant to Rule 40(J), SCRCPP, filed June 1, 2021). The consent order tolled the statute of limitations if the case was restored within one year. (*Id.*) On May 9, 2022, the court restored the case to the active docket after a timely motion was made. (Consent Order Restoring Case to Docket Pursuant to Rule 40(J), filed May 9, 2022). The order restoring the case assigned a new docket number to the action, 2022-CP-24-00431. (*Id.*).

This case came to trial on May 30, 2023, and concluded on June 1, 2023, upon the jury deliberating and reaching a verdict. (Verdict Form, dated June 1, 2023).

During the course of the trial, the trial court allowed Appellants to recall Respondent Newman for 1) impeaching his testimony on when he ceased driving and on why he ceased driving and 2) establishing Respondent Newman's culpability. (Tr. 195:24-25, 196:1-197:18). The trial court ruled that under Rule 609, SCRE, Appellants could not impeach Respondent Newman with evidence that he had been convicted of a crime but limited this ruling to "impeachment of credibility." (Tr. 199:10-20). The trial court allowed cross-examination of Respondent Newman outside the presence of the jury. (Tr. 200:13-23). Following the recall testimony of Respondent Newman, the trial court ruled that the post-accident events from 2019 through 2021 were not relevant and that the events of "2007, 2008, whatever they amount to here" were too remote in time to be relevant. (Tr. 216:3-19).

Counsel for Brian Newman made a motion for directed verdict on punitive damages. (Tr. 276:12-20). The court granted the motion for directed verdict. (Tr. 278:20-24). The verdict form memorialized the decision of the jury in finding for Appellant Tracy, plaintiff, and awarding her \$50,000.00 in actual damages. (*Id.*). The jury also agreed with the claim of Appellant Daniel,

found for the plaintiff, and awarded him \$0.00; however, the jury also disagreed with the claim of Appellant Daniel and found for the defendant. (*Id.*).

Appellants timely filed a post-trial motion captioned as Plaintiffs' Notice of Motion and Motion for New Trial Absolute and New Trial Based on the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine (hereinafter, the Motion for New Trial. (Motion for New Trial, p.1). Appellants argued that the trial court erred in failing to allow the jury to consider punitive damages because Brian Newman's admission of violating a statute created a question of fact for the jury to decide. (Motion for New Trial, pp.1-3). Appellants argued that the trial court erred in refusing to allow cross-examination of Brian Newman as to his similar habitual conduct and prior conduct "that contradicted his testimony after he attempted to mitigate his admission of liability." (Motion for New Trial, pp.3-5). Appellants further argued a new trial was appropriate under the thirteenth juror doctrine because there was evidence that: 1) the favorable verdict as to Appellant Daniel was grossly insufficient because the jury returned damages in an amount of \$0.00; and 2) the favorable verdict as to Appellant Tracy was based on matters beyond the evidence in the record, was woefully inadequate, and contradicted undisputed evidence. (Motion for New Trial, pp.6-7).

Respondent Newman filed a memorandum in opposition (hereinafter, the Memorandum in Opposition) to the Motion for New Trial, arguing, *inter alia*, that the jury's verdict was supported by substantial evidence in the record. (Defendant Brian Keith Newman's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial *Nisi Additur* or in the Alternative New Trial Absolute, p.6) (hereinafter, the Memorandum in Opposition). Further, Respondent Newman contended that evidence related to a defendant's financial condition was "background information" and is routinely provided to the jury "as with any plaintiff." (Memorandum in Opposition, p.9). On the question of punitive damages, Respondent Newman

alleged the “plaintiff’s attorney argued that the defendant’s lack of a license was a negligent act which raised to the level of reckless conduct” and “did not, by clear and convincing evidence, establish sufficient evidence of recklessness to support that punitive damages be presented to the jury.” (Memorandum in Opposition, p.10).

The trial court denied Appellants’ Motion for New Trial on February 29, 2024, after considering “the Memorandums . . . , hearing arguments from counsel, and having recollected the occasion.” (Order Denying Plaintiffs’ Motion for New Trial *Nisi Additur* or New Trial Absolute, p.1). This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the evening of June 14, 2018, Tracy Campbell and her husband of twenty-eight years, Daniel Campbell, were driving together after having dinner with their two adult children. (Tr. 95:16-25, 96:7-12, 98:18-21; 239:7-23). Daniel Campbell was driving the vehicle back home but needed to stop on the way at the grocery store, a Food Lion. (Tr. 99:3-22; 239:22-25, 240:5). As the Campbells were approaching to turn onto Florida Avenue, they were violently struck from the rear by “a powerful impact.” (Tr. 99:23-25; 100:1-2; 245:9-22). Testimony indicated the Campbells were pushed “into oncoming traffic, the left side of the road and down the embankment and up it and landed on the other side of the embankment.” (Tr. 100:4-6; 245:15-25). The Campbells suffered a second impact from “the car hitting the . . . hill from the ditch.” (Tr. 245:18-25). The airbags were deployed during the collision. (Tr. 100:7-12; 246:1-10).

Tracy testified to the physical effects of the collision and impact, noting that she “hit the . . . passenger side armrest and door panel with [her] . . . right side of [her] body” “from [her] waist down on [her] right side.” (Tr. 101:3-17). After the initial impact, Tracy testified to being in shock and “just, I was hurting.” (Tr. 101:17). When Tracy tried to get out of the car, her legs gave out and she had to sit back down. (Tr. 101:18-23). Daniel testified that “[Tracy] wasn’t able

to get out of the vehicle. Her hip was giving her pretty much” and “[s]he wasn’t able to stand up.” (Tr. 249:14-16, 22-25). When EMS arrived, the narrative noted Tracy complained of having pain to her lower back and could move her lower extremities without problems. (Tr. 152:8-18; Def. Exh. 2). She consented to EMS transport to South Hospital along with her husband because of the pain she was in. (Tr. 102:17-23, 109:20; 254:10-25).

While at the hospital, medical records evidenced Tracy complained of “neck back pain, bilateral hip pain, and left lower rib pain. Patient’s ambulatory unable to walk with a limp . . . [patient] believes with the limp from that chronic disc disease in her back.” (Tr. 109:13-17). She felt sore in her right hip and ribs and didn’t know what was going on with her body. (Tr. 109:23-25, 110:1-2). Tracy’s hip had bruising and swelling, which was evidenced by a photo taken a day or two after the collision. (Tr. 110:23-25, 111:1-12; Pla. Exh. 1). Daniel testified the bruising on her hip persisted for about three to four weeks after the collision and discoloration that lasted months. (Tr. 255:7-12).

Tracy continued to experience pain in her hip and saw her family doctor on June 22, 2018, where Dr. Anderson Funke indicated ongoing “Hip pain -- . . . Hip hurts not getting better, sharp pain, hurts to walk, put pressure against back pain is stable and not affected by it.” (Tr. 110:5-18; Pla. Exh. 15). Dr. Funke’s medical records indicated Tracy continued to experience “[m]arked tenderness right (inaudible) person and hip stiff some” and that she had a “[c]ontusion of right hip.” (Tr. 112:5-10, 112:18-22; Pla. Exh. 15). The bruising on her hip persisted for a while, “between two and three weeks.” (Tr. 111:23-25, 112:1-4). Daniel testified that the problems got a lot worse the longer it went on and “it gradually got worse and worse and worse.” (Tr. 256:13-21).

Tracy testified that she had a degenerative condition related to her back that had existed prior to the motor vehicle collision in 2018, at least since 2011. (Tr. 105:12-24; 153:10-14).

Tracy testified her worry immediately after the collision was that the powerful impact had aggravated her back condition, which Daniel corroborated. (Tr. 106:17-19; 249:17-21). Tracy consulted with her doctor, Dr. McLaughlin, at the Spine Center to evaluate about any problems she may have from the collision, which were satisfactorily ruled out. (Tr. 106:20-25; 107:1-4).

By July 12, 2018, Dr. McLaughlin noted Tracy's "back pain really has not gotten much worse" but that after the accident Tracy "started experience right leg pain . . . localized as to the right hip area with radiation posterior." (Tr. 113:2-15; Pla. Exh. 16). Tracy was referred by her family doctor to an orthopedic doctor, Dr. Anthony Timms, who she treated with on July 16, 2018. (Tr. 113:16-25, 114:1-23; Pla. Exh. 17).

Dr. Timms noted Tracy complained of "pain of right hip" and had a "[c]ontusion of right hip" with "exquisite tenderness over the lateral hip in the area of the trochanteric bursa." (Tr. 114:2-14; Pla. Exh. 17). Tracy complied with the recommendations of Dr. Timms to receive an injection of a "local anesthetic steroid mixture" to calm the hip down dramatically; however, the injection "did nothing." (Tr. 114:11-21, 115:11-25, 116:1; Pla. Exh. 18). On October 24, 2018, Tracy saw Dr. Timms, who noted complaints of "enlarging increasingly painful mass in [hip] area." (Tr. 115:11-18; Pla. Exh. 18). Tracy testified the mass on her hip "was getting bigger. I -- I couldn't -- I don't know why, but it was getting bigger and it was painful and I -- you couldn't put pressure on it. You couldn't touch it without it being painful." (Tr. 115:19-22). Dr. Timms noted an "[e]nlarging mass right hip MRI with contrast to assess this mass, this will need to be delayed until her lumbar fusion is healed because of the presence of hardware." (Tr. 116:2-9; Pla. Exh. 18). As a result of the back surgery for her degenerative disc condition, Tracy had to wait

for her back to heal before being able to undergo the MRI. (Tr. 116:8-12). Tracy saw Dr. Timms again on February 4, 2019, who suggested another injection even though it had not helped before. (Tr. 116:13-25; Pla. Exh. 19). Tracy came back to Dr. Timms on April 8, 2019, after the injection and to review the MRI findings. (Tr. 117:6-24; Pla. Exh. 20). Dr. Timms did not have an explanation for the persistent discomfort or persistent swelling; Tracy testified the pain continued and the swelling had not reduced. (Tr. 118:1-10; Pla. Exh. 20).

During the recovery process after her back surgery, Tracy testified her back surgeon wanted her to walk to help heal, which she did. (Tr. 119:1-9). Tracy would walk until she had to rest as a result of the pain she felt from her hip, a pain she described as “a numbness pain, a numbing pain.” (Tr. 120:2-10). In contrast, Tracy testified that the pain she experienced from her back condition went away after the back surgery including the radicular pain into her leg. (Tr. 121:22-25, 122:1-8).

Tracy returned to Dr. Funke, her family doctor, on August 16, 2019, complaining of ongoing “pain with her right hip.” (Tr. 122:18-25, 123:1-6; Pla. Exh. 21). Dr. Funke noted Tracy’s MRI showed “some gluteus medias tendonitis as well as some fluid and the trochanteric bursa. . . . [Tracy]’s not getting a lot better, she’s still having a lot of pain in this area. . . . The pain in her leg is sharp as well as dull.” (*Id.*). Tracy confirmed in testimony that this pain was in her “general right hip.” (Tr. 123:2). Dr. Funke referred Tracy to Sports Medicine, whom Tracy saw on August 29, 2019. (Tr. 123:3-10; Pla. Exh. 22).

Medical records from Sports Medicine indicated Tracy was evaluated for “evaluation of right hip pain” and “right hip pain, been ongoing for a year since motor vehicle collision in June, 2018.” (Tr. 123:11-25, 124:1-3; Pla. Exh. 22). Tracy received an ultrasound guided injection at Sports Medicine, which did not improve her pain once it wore off. (Tr. 124:4-14, 124:15-25,

125:1-4; Pla. Exh. 24). Tracy testified that her pain continued in her hip for years after the collision, even though the pain in her back had resolved post-surgery. (Tr. 127:1-25, 128:1-3; Pla. Exhs. 26-27).

Tracy consulted with Dr. Loging, an orthopedic surgeon in Newberry, who recommended surgery. (Tr. 134:9-25). Dr. Loging evaluated Tracy for “complaints of pain . . . in the right hip that occurs during activities. Onset was sudden with injury, which occurred on [June 14, 2018]. Injury occurred during motor vehicle accident. . . . [Tracy] has a large deformity over the right hip, which is very painful to her.” (Tr. 136:23-25, 137:1-16; Pla. Exh. 28). Tracy underwent surgery with Dr. Loging on June 22, 2021. (Tr. 135:1-2; 140:1-3). The surgery helped Tracy in that the “mass was gone . . . I could walk better. I still have a limp, but I could walk better.” (Tr. 136:5-10). Tracy testified there was some lingering pain, but “it got better”. (Tr. 138:10-15). This was corroborated by Daniel even though she “has a limp now that she didn’t have before.” (Tr. 263:9-22). As a result of the incision, Tracy has a visible and sizable scar from the surgery. (Pla. Exhs. 3, 4).

Tracy’s recovery period following this surgery was substantial, requiring six months of missed work before being released from physical therapy. (Tr. 140:24-25, 141:1-7). Tracy stated the back surgery was an easier recovery than the hip surgery since she was required to be “non-weightbearing for six weeks” following surgery. (Tr. 142:15-23; 143:2-8).

As a result of the accident, Tracy incurred medical bills and expenses related to treatment of her accident-related injuries, which were admitted as Plaintiffs’ 14 through 27. (Tr. 105:7-8). Tracy testified the total medical expenses up to the date of trial was \$57,272.52. (Tr. 141:25, 142:1-9; Pla. Exh. 29).

Tracy testified to the ongoing effects on both her social life and on her employment. Tracy Campbell testified that prior to the collision, she enjoyed riding the motorcycle, going camping, and spending time together with her husband. (Tr. 98:7-11). Even after her back surgery had healed, the pain in Tracy's hip still required her to change her daily life. (Tr. 128:4-25, 129:1-9). Tracy struggled to help her daughter with her wedding in September 2019 because of the ongoing pain in her hip: "Physically, I would -- I would have to sit and -- and because I can't stand in one spot for a long period of time, so I would have to sit and rest or let my leg rest anyway." (Tr. 129:10-24). Tracy testified that she is no longer able to do as many activities with her husband as she used to such as dancing at a work function; engaging in amorous activities; and traveling medium- to long-distances. (Tr. 98:12-14; 131:1-133:17).

Tracy testified as to her physical and mental condition at the time of trial, noting she does not walk the same way, does not walk normal; has a substantial and visible scar, which weighs on Tracy's decisions such as not wearing revealing clothes; and is self-conscious about the injury and scar, to the point of not allowing her grandchildren to sit on her left leg. (Tr. 144:2-25). She and her husband no longer hike, do not tent camp, and have reduced their time together motorcycling on the road. (Tr. 145:1-25, 146:6-11). Daniel testified that they "used to do a lot of camping, a lot of hiking" because they both loved waterfalls so they would travel together on a small road bike. (Tr. 236:11-24). Even a drive of six, seven miles down the road posed an impediment to Daniel and Tracy traveling together. (Tr. 258:17-23). On her relationship with her husband, Tracy testified "My husband is afraid to touch me now because he's afraid that he's going to hurt me and that affects me and that affects him and that affects our relationship personally." (Tr. 132:15-20). Tracy and her husband did not experience this prior to the collision. (Tr. 132:21-25; 260:14-25). Daniel testified that he continues to feel hesitant to initiate sexual

activity as a result of the injuries and pain his wife suffered from during the course of her recovery. (Tr. 260:14-25; 264:23-265:4). Daniel Campbell testified to the pain and suffering he witnessed his wife struggle with after the collision in 2018 as well as to the effect the injury had, and continues to have, on their relationship as a married couple. (Tr. 235:9-239:6). Daniel and Tracy had been married twenty-eight years at the time of trial. (*Id.*).

James F. Brown, a Sergeant with the South Carolina Department of Highway Patrol testified as to the traffic collision report, form TR310, which Sergeant Brown reviewed for “accuracy [to] ensure that all the . . . required blocks are completed and everything is, is correct on face value.” (Tr. 228:20-25, 229:1-23; 230:23-25, 231:1-6). Sergeant Brown testified that the traffic collision report indicated Respondent Newman was not transported by EMS from the scene and he was not injured. (Tr. 231:15-18).

Respondent Newman testified that he does not drive anymore because he had epilepsy and did not want to have a seizure and kill somebody. (Tr. 79:2-11). Respondent Newman knew he had an epileptic condition by age seven and this was the reason he had not obtained a driver’s license in twenty-five or thirty years. (Tr. 79:12-21). Respondent Newman was sixty years of age at the time of trial and required glasses; however, could not recall when he last had an eye exam or been evaluated by the highway department for his vision. (Tr. 89:1-23). Further, Respondent Newman would only drive to “absolutely . . . help somebody out.” (Tr. 80:1-4; 82:11-13). This was the only reason Respondent Newman would drive even though he lost his license, and he knew he had an epileptic condition. (Tr. 80:8-10).

A majority of Respondent Newman’s testimony may be distilled to: “I have no recollection. I told you I -- I had a major seizure about two months back and I remember about 5 percent of my whole past life, period.” (Tr. 81:4-9).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

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