RECEIVED

Feb 11 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2024-000511

Tracy Campbell and Daniel Campbell

Appellants,

v.

Brian Keith Newman and Kimberly Norman

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

s/Michelle N. Endemann

Michelle N. Endemann (SC Bar #79894)

Michael T. Coulter (SC Bar #15177)

497 St. Andrews Blvd

Charleston, SC 29407

T: 843.981.5180

Attorneys for Respondents

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Circuit Court Correctly Held That There Was No Evidence Presented to Support a Punitive Damages Jury Charge.

When evidence presented at trial yields only one conclusion, the trial court may properly grant a motion for directed verdict. Fairchild v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp., 385 S.C. 344 (S.C.App.,2009). "A plaintiff is entitled to recover punitive damages if the act complained of is determined to be willful, wanton or reckless." Camp v. Components, Inc., 285 S.C. 443, 444, 330 S.E.2d 315, 316 (Ct.App.1985). "In any civil action where punitive damages are claimed, the plaintiff has the burden of proving such damages by clear and convincing evidence." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-33-135.

"Ordinarily, the test is whether the tort has been committed in such a manner or under circumstances that a person of ordinary reason or prudence would have been conscious of it as an invasion of the plaintiff's rights." Cartee v. Lesley, 290 S.C. 333, 350 S.E.2d 388, 390 (1986). "The test may also be satisfied by evidence of the causative violation of an applicable statute." Id.

“However, before punitive damages may be submitted to the jury, there must be evidence the statutory violation proximately contributed to the injury.” Id. “There must be some inference of a causal link between the statutory violation and the injury to warrant submitting the issue of punitive damages to the jury.” Id. at 337-338.

South Carolina case law provides that punitive damages may be proven by evidence of the causative violation of an applicable statute. However, there must be evidence that the violation of the statute proximately caused the injury in order for punitive damages to be submitted to the jury. Here, Appellants failed to prove a causal link between the alleged statutory violations and the injuries she claimed were caused by the Accident.

Appellants alleged that Newman was driving with a suspended license at the time of the Accident. Appellants argued that Newman’s lack of a license was an act that rose to the level of reckless conduct, supporting a punitive damages jury charge. Newman testified on direct examination that he lost his license about 20-25 years ago. [R. p. 129, lines 6-8]. Counsel for Appellants asked Newman on direct examination whether he was ever told not to drive, which Newman responded “no.” [R. p. 128, lines 15-16]. That is the extent of the evidence introduced by Appellants of Newmans violation of a statute. Appellants did not introduce any evidence proving by clear and convincing evidence that Newman driving with a suspended license proximately caused the injuries alleged. Merely asking the defendant whether he had a license at the time of the accident does not amount to proving a causal connection between the statutory violation and the injuries alleged. As the trial court correctly stated:

THE COURT: Right. I – I agree. However, violation of statute in and of itself would not be the sole basis to – to allow punitive damages to go to the jury.

[R. p. 133, lines 6-8]. Appellants argument that the trial court refused to charge the jury with punitive damages based on a fear of awarding punitive damages in every automobile accident is misplaced and wholly unsupported by the record.

Additionally, the trial court offered Appellants' counsel avenues to introduce evidence that Newman was allegedly charged with driving too fast for conditions, as outlined below:

THE COURT: Right. Okay. What if – if you want to, in order to protect the record, call the trooper up and get him to testify that he was charged with driving too fast for conditions. That's part of the record. I'm not going to allow that to go before the jury, but to protect the record because I know you're seeking punitive damages. So I'll allow you to do that. The DUS is a – I mean, yeah. That – that can come in.

MR. NICHOLSON: You were talking about make a proffer with him?

THE COURT: Yeah. On – on the driving too fast for conditions.

MR. NICHOLSON: I don't – I don't want to do that.

[R. p. 275 line 17 – R. p. 276 line 4].

In addition, Appellants called Trooper James Brown, Jr., but did not elicit any testimony regarding Newman's DUS charge, or any other evidence that would establish proximate cause between Newman's statutory violation and the injuries.

Appellants cannot now complain of the trial court's ruling based on the lack of evidence presented towards the issue of punitive damages when they refused to proffer evidence that may have been relevant to punitive damages.

Therefore, the trial court, in its sound discretion, correctly held that there was insufficient evidence that Newman's actions were willful, wanton, or reckless and that there was insufficient

evidence of a causal connection between the alleged violation of a statute and Mrs. Campbell's alleged injuries.

B. The Circuit Court Correctly Ruled that Evidence of Respondent's Past Conduct Was Inadmissible.

“As a general rule, evidence of a person's prior bad acts is not admissible for the purpose of proving action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion.” Rule 404(a), SCRE. “The law in civil cases, as well as in criminal cases, permits proof of acts other than the one charged which are so related in character, time and place of commission as to ... tend to show the existence of a common plan or system.” Citizens Bank of Darlington v. McDonald, 202 S.C. 244, 24 S.E.2d 369, 376(1943). When attempting to admit evidence under the common scheme or plan exception barring admission of a prior bad act, “a close degree of similarity between the prior bad act and the present case is necessary.” State v. Martucci, 380 S.C. 232, 669 S.E.2d 598 (Ct. App. 2008). “Prior bad act evidence is admissible where the evidence is of such close similarity to the charged offense that the previous act enhances the probative value of the evidence so as to outweigh the prejudicial effect.” Judy v. Judy, 384 S.C. 634, 682 S.E.2d 836 (Ct. App. 2009).

South Carolina courts have defined “habit” as conduct that is “situation specific” or “specific, particularized conduct capable of almost identical repetition.” State v. Brown, 344 S.C. 70, 543 S.E.2d 552 (2001). “Evidence of habit is frequently rejected when offered for the purpose of showing that a person acted in accordance with such habit on a particular occasion.” Holcombe v. W.N. Watson Supply Co., 171 S.C. 110, 117, 171 S.E. 604, 606 (1933).

Appellant argues that evidence of Newman's prior driving record is relevant to the issue of punitive damages. However, the record reflects that Appellants' counsel sought to elicit testimony from Newman regarding his driving record, both before and after the Accident, for the purpose of impeaching Newman's “inconsistent activity.” [R. p. 270, lines 16-18]. Appellants' counsel

reiterated that he was seeking to admit testimony regarding Newman's driving record "for impeachment purposes." [R. p. 270, lines 7-8]. The trial court even offered to allow Appellants' counsel to cross-examine Newman for punitive damages. [R. p. 270 lines 19 – R. p. 271 line 6]. However, Appellants' counsel sought to proffer inadmissible testimony regarding prior driving convictions, as well as post-accident driving offenses. Appellant cannot now complain that the trial court erred in refusing to allow testimony for the purpose of proving punitive damages when the trial court offered to allow such evidence, so long as it was not otherwise inadmissible.

Regardless, the evidence of Newman's prior convictions is inadmissible pursuant to Rule 609, SCRE. Rule 609 permits evidence of prior convictions if the crime was punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year. Newman's driving offenses would not fall within the first prong of Rule 609, as they were neither punishable by death nor subject to imprisonment in excess of a year. Next, Rule 609 allows evidence of prior convictions for impeachment purposes if the convicted crime involved dishonest or false statements. SCRE 609(a)(2). As the trial court correctly ruled, Newman's DUI traffic offenses would not fall under the second prong of Rule 609. [R. p. 248, lines 13-14]. Moreover, evidence that Newman allegedly had a "habit" of driving with a suspended license was inadmissible as it was not "situation specific" or "identical repetition." See State v. Brown, 344 S.C. 70, 74. Therefore, impeachment evidence of Newman's prior traffic offenses was inadmissible, as the trial court correctly ruled.

C. The Circuit Court Correctly Denied Appellants' Motion For A New Trial *Nisi Additur*.

"The consideration of a motion for a new trial *nisi additur* requires the trial judge to consider the adequacy of the verdict in light of the evidence presented." Vinson v. Hartley, 324 S.C. 389, 404, 477 S.E.2d 715, 723 (Ct. App. 1996). The mere listing of the plaintiffs claimed damages compared to the jury verdict "does not constitute compelling reasons for invading the

jury's province." Green v. Fritz, 356 S.C. 566, 570, 590 S.E.2d 39, 41 (Ct. App. 2003). Furthermore, "[a] trial court does not abuse its discretion in denying a motion for new trial *nisi additur* where there is evidence in the record to support the jury's verdict." Ligon v. Norris, 371 S.C. 625, 635, 640 S.E.2d 467, 473 (Ct. App. 2006).

In Nestler v. Fields, 426 S.C. 34, 824 S.E.2d 461 (Ct. App. 2019), the defendant admitted that he was at fault for causing an accident and the plaintiff's injuries. The plaintiff claimed injuries of a cervical strain, left elbow contusion, tennis elbow, and a permanent impairment rating of 53% for his left upper extremity, which translated to a 32% impairment rating for the whole person. Id. at 463. The medical bills submitted into evidence for the plaintiff's alleged injuries totaled \$7,117.50, and the jury awarded \$7,117.50 in actual damages. The plaintiff moved for both a new trial *nisi* and a new trial *nisi additur* and argued that he was entitled to such relief because, "despite the extensive evidence as to his permanent impairment, pain and suffering, and other non-economic damages, the jury awarded him the amount of his medical bills." Id.

In fact, even in cases where the verdict did not cover all of the medical bills claimed by plaintiffs, South Carolina courts have found that it was an abuse of discretion for the trial judge to grant an additur. In Luchok v. Vena, 391 S.C. 262, 705 S.E.2d 71 (Ct. App. 2010), the plaintiffs alleged medical bills were \$10,071.00, and the jury returned a verdict for only \$3,023.90. The defendant admitted fault for the accident submitted evidence questioning whether some of the plaintiff's chiropractic bills were reasonable and necessary. While the trial judge granted the motion for additur based on the fact that the verdict did not cover all of the chiropractic bills, this Court reversed and held that "[i]n the face of the sharply conflicting evidence, this is not a compelling reason to grant the motion." Id. at 73.

Here, there is substantial evidence in the record to support the jury's verdict. With respect to Appellant Tracy Campbell's medical expenses, Appellants argue in their initial brief that the evidence was directly related to Mrs. Campbell's hip injury and was not contradicted. [R. pp. 31-39]. However, during trial, Mrs. Campbell testified that she had significant lower back pain prior to the Accident, as well as at the time of the Accident. [R. p. 200, lines 14-17]. Mrs. Campbell testified that four months after the Accident, she underwent lumbar surgery and, after the surgery, she was not experiencing pain. [R. p. 202 line 20 – R. p. 205 line 4]. Mrs. Campbell further testified, and evidence was introduced, that she did not complain about any issues with her hip until approximately four months after the Accident. [R. p. 209, lines 6-11]. Then, Mrs. Campbell testified, and evidence was introduced, that approximately five months after the Accident, and one month after first reporting hip problems, she reported to her physical therapist that she was feeling good and was able to do everything on her own and no longer needed physical therapy. [R. p. 210, lines 17-22]. Further, Mrs. Campbell testified that more than a year after the Accident, she reported to her doctor that she was doing well and had returned to all of her usual activities. [R. p. 214, lines 21-24]. Mrs. Campbell did not present to her testifying expert, Dr. James Logins, for hip pain until three years after the Accident. Mrs. Campbell testified that, following her right hip surgery, she reported that she was not having any hip pain, despite testifying later that she was still experiencing pain. [R. p. 218, lines 4-7]. Therefore, a jury could have reasonably concluded that the Accident was not the proximate cause of Mrs. Campbell's injuries, supporting an award of \$50,000.

With regard to Mrs. Campbell's lost wages claim, there is evidence in the record to support the jury's findings. Mrs. Campbell testified that she was able to return to work full-time

following the Accident. [R. p. 214, lines 22-24]. Mrs. Campbell also testified that when she missed work for her surgery, she did not lose any wages. [R. p. 226, lines 4-13].

Lastly, as it relates to Appellant Daniel Campbell's loss of consortium claim, evidence was introduced that he and Mrs. Campbell were still able to engage in shared hobbies together, such as riding motorcycles. [R. p. 226, lines 14-20]. Moreover, Mr. Campbell testified that his wife's pre-existing back condition kept them from engaging in hobbies even before the Accident. [R. p. 317, lines 13-21]. A jury could have reasonably concluded that Mr. Campbell's loss of consortium claim was not related to the Accident but rather was the result of Mrs. Campbell's pre-existing injuries.

Respondents argued and presented evidence that Mrs. Campbell's right hip pain was not caused by the Accident. As the trial court correctly stated: "[i]t is reasonable to believe that the jury considered the total special damages claimed by the plaintiffs, the believability and credibility of plaintiffs' testimony, the credibility of co-plaintiff Tracy Campbell's expert testimony, the credibility of the co-defendant Brian Keith Newman, the pre-existing medical conditions and the gap in co-plaintiff Tracy Campbell's medical treatment to arrive at its verdict of \$50,000. [R. pp. 1-4]. Therefore, there is ample evidence supported by the record for the jury's decision to award Mrs. Campbell less than her claimed medical bills.

D. The Circuit Court Did Not Err in Denying Appellants' Motion For A New Trial Absolute.

"Traditionally, in South Carolina, circuit court judges have the authority to grant a new trial upon the judge's finding that justice has not prevailed." Todd v. Owen Indus. Prods., Inc., 315 S.C. 34, 431 S.E.2d 596 (Ct.App.1993). Similarly, the judge may grant a new trial if the verdict is inconsistent and reflects the jury's confusion. Johnson v. Parker, 279 S.C. 132, 303 S.E.2d 95 (1983). Such discretion is "founded upon the facts, the evidence, the witnesses, the trial

circumstances, the verdict and the judge's view of them." Fallon v. Rucks, 217 S.C. 180, 189, 60 S.E.2d 88, 92 (1950).

To prevail in an action founded in negligence, the plaintiff must establish three essential elements: (1) a duty of care owed by the defendant to the plaintiff; (2) a breach of that duty by a negligent act or omission; and (3) damage proximately caused by a breach of duty. Newton v. South Carolina Pub. Rys. Comm'n, 312 S.C. 107, 439 S.E.2d 285 (Ct.App.1993). In a negligence action, the plaintiff must prove proximate cause. Rush v. Blanchard, 310 S.C. 375, 426 S.E.2d 802 (1993). "A negligent act or omission is a proximate cause of injury if, in a natural and continuous sequence of events, it produces the injury, and without it, the injury would not have occurred." Crolley v. Hutchins, 300 S.C. 355, 387 S.E.2d 716, 717 (Ct. App. 1989). Negligence is deemed to be the proximate cause of an injury when, without such negligence, the injury would not have occurred or could have been avoided. Hughes v. Children's Clinic, P. A., 269 S.C. 389, 237 S.E.2d 753 (1977). "Ordinarily, the question of proximate cause is one of fact for the jury and the trial judge's sole function regarding the issue is to inquire whether particular conclusions are the only reasonable inferences that can be drawn from the evidence." Vinson v. Hartley, 324 S.C. 389, 477 S.E.2d 715, 721 (Ct. App. 1996).

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